IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF PERRIS,

Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD C. STAMPER, et al.,

Respondents.

CRC 8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT

JAN 16 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO

CASE NO. E053395

ON APPEAL FROM SUPERIOR COURT OF RIVERSIDE COUNTY,
THE HONORABLE DALLAS HOLMES, JUDGE
CASE NO. RIC524291

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ERIC L. DUNN (Bar No. 176851) SUNNY K. SOLTANI (Bar No. 209774) PAM K. LEE (Bar No. 246369) ADRIANA P. MENDOZA (Bar No. 286659)

ALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP

18881 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 1700

Irvine, CA 92612

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is the constitutionality of an otherwise reasonably probable dedication requirement that a governmental entity claims it would have required in order to grant the property owner permission to put his or her property to a higher use a question that must be resolved by a jury pursuant to Article I, Section 19 of the California Constitution?
- 2. Was the dedication requirement claimed by Petitioner City of Perris a "project effect" that the eminent domain law requires to be ignored in determining just compensation?

II. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff/Petitioner City of Perris ("City") seeks to acquire 1.66 acres ("Subject Interests") across a vacant, unimproved 9.11-acre property ("Property") owned by Defendants/Respondents Donald Dean Robinson, LLC, a limited liability company, Donald D. Robinson, and Richard Stamper (collectively, "Owners") to construct a much-needed public right-of-way, Indian Avenue ("Project"), in an unimproved but rapidly growing part of town. Construction of Indian Avenue will greatly benefit Owners, or any future property owner, as well as the general public, because, without same:

- 1. Owners cannot develop their Property to its highest and best use (it is undisputed the Subject Interests must be dedicated at the time of development, and Owners would have to construct Indian Avenue at their own expense), and
- 2. Owners would not have the necessary traffic going to this part of the City to have a successful development of any sort.

It is safe to assume that Owners are not happy about: (i) the size of the dedication requirement, (ii) the fact that it crosses their Property, and (iii) the way the City's planning evolved, leading up to the 2005 adoption of the current City General Plan Circulation Element placing Indian Avenue in its current configuration through the Property.

Hence, at trial, Owners raised every argument they could to convince the court to ignore the City's dedication requirement, arguing: the dedication requirement is a "project effect"; the dedication requirement is unconstitutional; the dedication requirement is not reasonably probable; and the jury should decide the reasonable probability that the City would impose the dedication requirement. Notably, despite all that, even Owners never asked the jury to decide the constitutionality of the dedication requirement. In fact, Owners agreed that the court must decide the constitutionality issue. (See Section VI(B)(1) of this Brief.) The lower court, however, reached the opposite conclusion sua sponte when it held that a jury must decide the constitutionality of a dedication requirement,

¹ The size of the take, although not typical, is not unique or uncommon in underdeveloped cities. City staff undisputedly testified the City required similar dedication sizes for this and other projects. (Owners'/Appellants' Appendix ("AA") [volume:page] 5:1052-1071, 7:1724.)

The fact that Indian Avenue crosses the Property will benefit Owners by providing frontage upon a major road, which the Property previously did not have. The frontage is highly desirable, for it will allow for successful commercial development in a zone which lacks any meaningful commercial development to support the area, and will bring higher values per square foot than industrial uses. (Reporter's Transcript ("RT") [page:line] 143:23 – 144:2.)

³ The fact that the City amended and updated its Circulation Element is irrelevant to the project effect doctrine. Nor does this fact render the dedication requirement imroper or illegal. (See Section VIII(C) of this Brief.)

and did so without providing the City a fair opportunity to brief the issue in violation of Government Code Section 68081.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

A. There Is No Guaranteed Right To A Jury Trial Under California Constitution Article I, Section 19 To Determine The Constitutionality Of An Otherwise Reasonably Probable Dedication Requirement That A Governmental Entity Claims It Would Have Required In Order To Allow A Property Owner To Put His Or Her Property To A Higher Use.

A jury is not equipped, and should not be allowed, to determine the *constitutionality* of a governmental act. It appears the lower court holds that because the constitutionality issue involves a determination of facts, a jury must decide the ultimate issue of constitutionality. In Justice King's words, "a jury must be allowed to determine whether, and to what extent, the [] take ... is roughly proportionate to the Stamper Property's anticipated impacts on area traffic if and when the Stamper Property is developed." A jury would then determine "whether all or any part of the 1.66-acre take could be constitutionally imposed as a dedication condition on development." (Court of Appeal's Slip Opinion dated August 9, 2013 ("Opinion"), p. 34.)

The lower court is mistaken in its analysis on which principles trigger a right to a jury trial. The inquiry is not whether the constitutionality issue "involves additional factual questions for a jury to determine." (Opinion, p. 33). Rather, the correct inquiry is whether, historically, the underlying cause of action is one of law or equity and whether there is a right to a jury trial. Not once in its 48-page Opinion does the lower court discuss law versus equity principles, nor does it analyze the

historical cases cited by the City during oral argument or the limited briefing allowed by the lower court on this issue.

Clearly this Court already established that eminent domain cases are special proceedings in equity; thus, there is no inherent right to a jury trial. Only through an amendment in the California Constitution in 1879 did the right to a jury trial arise in eminent domain, and only with respect to "just compensation."

Historically, a judge (not a jury) decides whether an uncompensated taking is permissible (even if there is a mixed question of fact and law), and in an appropriate case looks at (among other things) the rough proportionality between a particular development and the governmental requirements for that development. It is possible a jury may be permitted to make underlying predicate findings of fact, but generally, in *all* precedential cases involving constitutionality, a judge (rather than a jury) makes those predicate factual findings as part of its constitutionality analysis. In almost 100 years of takings and eminent domain cases, the court decides *all* questions of law or mixed fact and law.

In a challenge to the constitutionality of an otherwise reasonably probable dedication requirement, whether a set of facts satisfies the nexus standard of *Nollan* or the rough proportionality test of *Dolan* is purely a question of law. The lower court errs when it holds that the dispositive legal issue, to wit, whether a dedication requirement as an uncompensated taking is constitutional, must be decided by a jury.

In deciding if the constitutionality issue goes to a jury, the lower court's analysis of whether a legal question "involves additional factual questions for a jury to determine" is a dangerous one that can have unintended consequences. Under the lower court's analysis, no

constitutional question will ever go to a judge again, unless the facts are undisputed by the parties. That cannot be.

B. The Dedication Requirement In This Case Is Not A "Project Effect" That Eminent Domain Law Requires To Be Ignored In Determining Just Compensation.

With respect to the project effect doctrine, the Opinion is correct in its holding that Code of Civil Procedure Section 1263.330⁴ does not apply to the Indian Avenue dedication requirement. Application of Section 1263.330 to any dedication requirement is improper and would result in the reversal of over four decades of well-settled case law regarding the valuation of claimed dedication requirements in eminent domain.

Under the project effect doctrine of Section 1263.330, any increase or decrease in the value of property based on the project for which the property is taken, or a regulation enacted related *specifically* to the taking, must be excluded from valuation of a property. In this case, however, the dedication requirement exists independently of, and cannot be attributable to, the City's Project (i.e., the construction of Indian Avenue). In fact, the applicable regulation on dedication requirements in the City was adopted in 1981 by ordinance and codified in the Perris Municipal Code. Such law applies upon development of *any* property within the City and is a condition of approval commonly imposed on development throughout the City.

No regulations were enacted or imposed in connection with the Project that would make the dedication requirement a project effect. The

⁴ All Section references are to the Code of Civil Procedure, unless stated otherwise.

City adopted its General Plan Circulation Element in 2005, which, when read with the Perris Municipal Code, imposes a dedication requirement of all unbuilt streets within the City, including Indian Avenue. Years later, the City sought to acquire the Subject Interests. The City did not intend to construct Indian Avenue at the time the 2005 Circulation Element was adopted. This claimed dedication requirement is no different than any garden variety dedication requirement analyzed in the seminal eminent domain cases discussed in Section V(B) of this Brief.

Since every dedication requirement is part of the project for which property is being acquired under eminent domain, if this Court reverses the lower court on this issue, then *every* condemnation case involving a dedication requirement would be overruled.

A reversal of the Opinion on this issue would also significantly reduce a public agency's police powers and its ability to use dedication requirements as a valid planning tool authorized under the Government Code and local regulations.

IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Property and the City's Project

Approximately 50% of the City is undeveloped (RT 110:27-28), and the City is transitioning from an agricultural community to a more diverse economic base (AA 7:1473 [Tab 50]). The Property, also vacant and undeveloped, contains 9.11 acres located at the southwest corner of Perry Street and Barrett Avenue, just north of Ramona Expressway. (AA 7:1451 [Tab 50].)

The area surrounding the Property is also undeveloped and has no permanently paved roads. (AA 2:0299-0302 [Tab 10].) The record is

undisputed that the area, including the Property, cannot be developed to its highest and best use until roads are constructed. (RT 99:7-100:5; 108:8-12; 188:16-23.) Here, the City is acquiring a 1.66-acre portion of the Property to construct Indian Avenue to facilitate development in the area. (City's/Respondent's Appendix ("RA") [volume:page] 2:0464 [Tab 19]; RT 99:18-28, 108:8-12.) As set forth in the City's Resolution of Necessity, the Project is defined clearly as an "acquisition of the Subject Interests for the Construction of Indian Avenue Improvements." (AA 5:0980 [Tab 39].) Although the Property is at the corner of Perry Street and Barrett Avenue, which are not permanently paved, the City intends to vacate the Perry and Barrett dedications. (RA 1:0138-0139 [Tab 4]; AA 2:0299-0302 [Tab 10].)

The Property is zoned industrial, but once Indian Avenue is constructed, it can be developed with either industrial or commercial uses. (RA 2:0294-0296 [Tabs 8-10].) Once Indian Avenue is completed, the Property will then have the necessary frontage on a major road in an area lacking the necessary commercial development in an industrial zone, allowing development of the Property with commercial uses and bringing higher prices per square foot than industrial uses for the Property. (RT 143:23-144:2.) Owners have owned the Property since 1985 (RA 1:0092 [Tab 4]), but have not proposed development on the Property.

B. <u>Dedication Of Right-Of-Way Under The Perris Municipal Code</u>

The Subdivision Map Act regulates planning and development and authorizes cities to enact local ordinances imposing dedication requirements on development of property. (Gov. Code §§ 66477, 66479.) These ordinances allow municipalities to require a property owner to "dedicate." or give, certain property to the municipality for specified public

uses. (Gov. Code § 66475.) In dedicating property, an owner is *not* compensated for this taking because the government is merely exercising its police power to regulate land use. (*Grupe v. Cal. Coastal Comm'n* (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d 148, 172-173.)

The City enacted ordinances imposing dedication requirements pursuant to the Government Code. Several provisions of the Perris Municipal Code require all development in the City to conform to the City's General Plan. (RA 2:0266-0268 [Tab 7].) Perris Municipal Code Sections 18.08.040 and 18.24.020 require, at the time unimproved property is developed, dedication of any portion of property designated on the Circulation Element⁵ or a parcel map as a right-of-way, as a condition of approval of the development. (RA 2:0268, 2:0270 [Tab 7]; RT 95:11-96:24.) Given that Indian Avenue is part of the Circulation Element, the Subject Interests must be dedicated upon development of the Property. This is an undisputed fact. (RT 95:18-25, 186:25-187:11.)

C. Indian Avenue And Its History

Indian Avenue runs north-south from Harley Knox Boulevard to the I-215 frontage road. *South* of Ramona Expressway, an east-west highway, Indian Avenue is fully developed to Morgan Street. (AA 7:1564 [Tab 51].) *North* of Ramona Expressway, and at the time this lawsuit was filed, Indian

⁵ A Circulation Element is a required element of a city's general plan and consists of the general location and extent of existing and proposed major roads, transportation routes, and other local public utilities and facilities. The circulation element is required to be modified from time to time for a balanced, multimodal transportation network that meets the needs of all users, including pedestrians, trucks, trains, and bicyclists, of streets and highways. (Gov. Code §§ 65302(b), 65358.)

Avenue was completely undeveloped to Markham Street and partially developed to Harley Knox Boulevard.⁶

1. The 1999 General Plan Circulation Element Update

Over a decade ago in 1999, simultaneously with an unrelated development (Lowe's Distribution Center), the City amended its General Plan and designed the alignment of Indian Avenue *south* of Ramona Expressway such that Indian Avenue would curve to the east in a half-bell shape and meet Barrett Avenue, a parallel road east of Indian Avenue. (AA 7:1566-1569 [Tab 51].) According to the Resolution approving the amendment, the alignment accommodated transportation goals by creating a circulation of city streets capable of "serving existing traffic and expected future increases in traffic" in the surrounding area. (AA 7:1567 [Tab 51].)

2. The 2005/2008 General Plan Circulation Element Update

In June, 2005 (and later in August, 2008), as required by law under Government Code Sections 65302 and 65358, the City updated its Circulation Element, placing Indian Avenue in its current configuration. (AA 7:1571-1577 [Tab 51].) The City aligned Indian Avenue *north* of Ramona Expressway to mirror the southern alignment so that Indian Avenue became a connected road, therefore creating a vertical bell curve shape in the alignment.

In doing so, the City conducted extensive traffic studies to determine the best location with least private injury. (RA 1:0235-0265 [Tab 6]; RT 139:7-141:16.) In his deposition, City Engineer Habib Motlagh

⁶ Construction of Indian Avenue was completed in February 2012. Indian Avenue is now open to the public.

unequivocally testified that, if the alignment of Indian Avenue were shifted north to avoid the Property, then existing developments such as a residence or office structure would have to be demolished and taken, and existing, entitled projects would have to be relocated. (AA 7:1589 [Tab 51].) He further testified during trial that the current alignment of Indian Avenue was chosen based on traffic safety, logical connection, and least private injury. (RT 139:15-140:2.)

3. Traffic Studies Related To The Property And Subject Interests

The alignment of Indian Avenue was based on substantial traffic studies. (RT 139:13-14.) The traffic study used a transportation model to make development projections based on factors such as zoning, common uses, and history of development on *every* parcel of land -- including the Property -- to analyze the roadways necessary to address existing and future traffic concerns. (RA 1:0235-0265 [Tab 6]; RT 183:2-28.) These projections then relate back to the properties studied, including the Property. (RA 1:0235-0265 [Tab 6]; RT 183:17-20.) Based on the projections, the roads are placed on the Circulation Element and become the basis on which the City will require dedications for road purposes from each property. (RA 1:0235-0265 [Tab 6].)

The Circulation Element traffic studies were circulated, studied in workshops (where members of the public participated), and became part of an environmental impact review process. (AA 7:1571-1572 [Tab 51].) After all comments were addressed, the traffic studies were approved by the City at public hearings. (*Id.*)

4. Owners' Failure To Object To The Indian Avenue Alignment

Owners could have objected to the Indian Avenue alignment in 1999. They made no objections. Owners again could have objected to the Indian Avenue alignment between 2003 through 2005 at various Circulation Element planning workshops, or when the current Circulation Element was adopted in 2005 and updated in 2008. Again, they made no objections. Therefore, they forever waived their right to object to the alignment of Indian Avenue under Government Code Section 65009.⁷ (RT 180:22-26, 262:17-263:1.)

D. Offer To Purchase The Subject Interests And Adoption Of The Resolution Of Necessity

To construct Indian Avenue, the City was required to acquire 12 properties, of which 11 were dedicated by owners in recognition of the benefits that a fully-constructed Indian Avenue would bring to their properties. (RT 111:1-8.) Owners' Property was the final piece. (*Id.*)

On October 14, 2008, the City made a Government Code offer to purchase the Subject Interests for \$54,400.00, based on an independent appraiser's valuation of the Property. (AA 1:0031 [Tab 2].) On or about January 9, 2009, the City sent a revised offer letter for \$54,800.00. (*Id.*)

On February 19, 2009, the City sent correspondence to Owners advising them of the City Council meeting on March 10, 2009, during which the City Council was to consider the adoption of a Resolution of

⁷ Owner Donald Robinson testified during trial that he made objections to the adoption of the Circulation Element, but it was clarified during cross-examination that neither he nor his representative made objections upon its adoption. (RT 261:4-16.)

Necessity to acquire the Subject Interests. (AA 1:0032 [Tab 2].) Owners never showed up at or objected to the Resolution of Necessity hearing. (*Id.*) Without any objections, the City Council adopted the Resolution of Necessity on March 10, 2009. (*Id.*)

V. OVERVIEW OF DEDICATION REQUIREMENTS IN EMINENT DOMAIN JURISPRUDENCE

A. Valuation Of Property In Eminent Domain Cases

The City's power to exercise eminent domain flows directly from Article I, Section 19 of the California Constitution and statutory law. (Section 1230.010, et seq.) The owner of property acquired by eminent domain is entitled to just compensation. (Section 1263.010.) "Just compensation" is defined as the "full monetary equivalent of the property taken", and is measured by the value of what the property owner has lost, rather than what the condemning agency has gained. (Redevelopment Agency of the City of Concord v. Tobriner (1989) 215 Cal.App.3d 1087, 1098.) Compensation must be "just" to the public entity acquiring the property, as well as to the property owner. (City of Fresno v. Cloud (1972) 26 Cal.App.3d 113, 123 ("Fresno").)

The property owner is to be put in the same position monetarily as he would have been had his property not been taken, but he should not receive an undue windfall. To determine such monetary equivalence, the U.S. Supreme Court established the concept of "fair market value"; the owner is entitled to the fair market value of his property at the time of the taking. (*New York v. Sage* (1915) 239 U.S. 57, 61.)

Fair market value is defined as "the highest and best price on the date of valuation that would be agreed to by a seller, being willing to sell but under no particular or urgent necessity for so doing, nor obliged to sell,

and a buyer, being ready, willing and able to buy but under no particular necessity for so doing, each dealing with the other with full knowledge of all the uses and purposes for which the property is reasonably adaptable and available." (Section 1263.320(a).)

B. Valuation Of Property Subject To Dedication In Eminent Domain

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