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

2. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

A. The Project-Influence Rule Properly Applies To Claimed

 Dedication Requirements.

Eminent domain law has long mandated that project influences be
ignored in valuing condemned property. (Merced Irrigation Dist. v.
Woolstenhulme (1971) 4 Cal.3d 478, 489-490.) Thus, a "condemned
property is to be valued as if the project for which the land is taken did not
exist." (City of San Diego v. Rancho Penasquitos Partnership (2003) 105
Cal.App.4th 1013, 1033.) In light of this rule, "development constraints
'predicated on [the] very project' for which the land was condemned [are]
irrelevant to the valuation of the property taken." (City of San Diego v.
Barratt American Inc. (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 917, 938.) And". ..
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'changes in land use, to the extent they were influenced by the proposed
improv.ement, [are] properly excluded . ..." (City of San Diego v. Rancho
Penasquitos Partnership, supra, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1028.) This rule
excluding project influence is codified in Code of Civil Procedure

section 1263.330. And that statute has no exception for project-influenced
dedication requirements. Likewise, before the Court of Appeal opinion in
this case, no case had held that project-influenced dedication requirements
are exempt from the project-influence rule.

Here, the very project for which the City brought this condemnation
action — the extension and realignment of Indian Avenue as depicted on the
City's amended General Plan — is the only reason that the City would ever
even consider such a dedication requirement; if the City's realignment
project did not exist, no dedication requirement would exist. The Court of
Appeal specifically found this. It is thus not a coincidence that the right-of-
way being condemned and the right-of-way the City claims must be
dedicated are identical.

This is in stark contrast to the dedication requirements that the
Stamper/Robinson property would have been subject to absent the City's
realignment project: nine-foot strips to allow the widening of the existing,
and long-established grid streets that border the Stamper/Robinson
property. Just as Messrs. Stamper and Robinson's appraiser had no trouble
here distinguishing between the project-influenced Indian Avenue
dedication claim and the ordinary nine-foot dedications for the other two
streets, the trier of fact in other cases will have little difficulty parsing
(1) those dedication requirements that.would be imposed whether or not a
condemnor pursues a project and (2) those, like the claimed dedication

requirement here, that exist only because of the project.
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B. Whether A Claimed Dedication Requirement Meets The
Nollan And Dolan Constitutionality Tests Is Properly Part
Of The Jury's Determination Of Value Because The
Legality Of The Claimed Dedication Requirement Is A
Factor A Buyer Would Consider In Setting A Purchase
Price.

Under California's Constitution, the jury determines valuation issues
in an eminent domain case. (Metropolitan Water Dist. of So. Cal;'fornia V.
Campus Crusade for Christ, Inc. (2007) 41 Cal.4th 954, 965.) More
specifically, as this Court has explained: "The fair market value of a
property is a fact to be determined by the jury. [Citations.] "The jury is
entitled to and should consider those factors which a buyer would take into
consideration in arriving at a fair market value, were [the buyer]
contemplating a purchase of the property.' [Citation.]" (/d. at p. 972.)
Among the factors that a buyer would take into consideration in arriving at
fair market value is whether a reasonable probability exists that'the zoning
or other use restrictions on a property may be changed — and whether the
potential "cost" necessary to get the land use restrictions changed is that a
portion of the property might have to be dedicated. (See id. at p. 967;
Peqple ex. rel. Dept. of Public Works v. Investors Diversified Services, Inc.
(1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 367, 372-376 [explaining the potential for a
dedication requirement may be the cost, or "burden," thét comes with the
"benefit" of a zone change].)

Since, as this Court has held, the reasonable probability of a zone
change is a compensation issue that must be determined by the jury
(Campus Crusade, supra, 41 Cal.4th at pp. 966-974), the interconnected
issue of the reasonable probability that a dedication requirement will be a
"bufden" that comes with the "benefit" of a zone change is also necessarily

an issue for the jury to decide as part of determining what a buyer will
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consider in setting a purchase price. And a sub-issue for the jury in
deciding the value impact of a claimed dedication requirement (or other use
restriction) is the probability that the restriction will not be imposed
because it would be illegal (for example, because it is unconstitutional),
since, if illegal and thus unenforceable, a buyer would not consider the
restriction to reduce the value of the property.

Further, determining whether a claimed dedication serves the same
purpose as the denial of a development permit (the Nollan "nexus" test) or
determining whether the impact of a development is roughly proportional to
the dedication claimed (the Dolan test) is no more complicated than other
issues that juries are called upon to decide in valuation cases, such as
deciding the reasonable probability of a zone change. A properly instructed
jury can handle these largely factual issues just as well as a jury can handle
any other valuation issue. And, not surprisingly, courts frequently allow
juries to determine "mixed questions of law and fact . . . if they are
essentially factual, even if they implicate constitutional rights." (De! Monte
Dunes v. City of Monterey (9th Cir. 1997) Cir. 95 F.3d 1.422, 1428; Skoro v.
City of Portland (D. Or. 2008) 544 F.Supp.2d 1128, 1131-1133
[determining that a jury can and should decide whether a dedication

requirement was a taking under Nollan and Dolan].)

3. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

A. The Stamper/Robinson Property.

Messrs. Stamper and Robinson purchased their property more than a
quarter century ago, planning to utilize it, eventually, for their respective
metal fabricating businesses. (Appellants' Appendix ["AA"
volume:tab:page] 5:39:0967; Reporter's Transcript ["RT" volume:page:line]
1:258:17-260:3.) The property is a flat square and contains 9.2 acres. (AA
5:39:0967.) The property is zoned to allow industrial development, and it
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is located in an area of Perris that has seen booming industrial
development, particularly of very large warehousing and distribution
facilities. (/bid.)

The property Has paved roads on two sides, Perry Street to the north
and Barrett Avenue to the east. (AA 5:39:0967, 0974-0978.)

B. The City's Project.

The City adopted a resolution of necessity to authorize this
condemnation action, and in it the City described its project as the "Indian
Avenue right-of-way improvements." (See AA 5:39:0967, 0979-1010.)
The testimony of the City's City Engineer, along with a declaration he gave
in support of the City's motion for prejudgment possession, provide
background and history regarding the City's Indian Avenue project.

(AA 5:39:0968, 1011-1045.)

Decades ago, the City's roads were laid out in a typical north-
south/east-west grid pattern, and the City Engineer explained that Indian
Avenue had always been planned as one of those straight, north-south roads
and that the right-of-way already existed so that Indian Avenue could be
built on that straight alignment (lan alignment that would not go near the
Stamper/Robinson property). (AA 5:39:0968, 1017-1023.) Then, in the
late 1990's, Lowe's began considering a site in the City to build a massive
distribution center. But the site had a problem: it was not big enough.
(Ibid.; RT 1:158-25-159:25.)

Lowe's and the City came up with a solution: the City would vacate
the existing Indian Avenue right-of-way, along with other street right-of-
way, and then deed this property to Lowe's at no cost. (Ibid.) Doing this
gave Lowe's a single parcel that was more than 40 acres larger than if the
streets had remained in place, bisecting the land. (/bid.) And by luring
Lowe's into its boundaries, the City got 460 jobs and an increased tax base.

(AA 5:39:0968, 1031-1032; RT 1:160:7-28.)
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To make all of this happen, the City had to add an easterly dogleg
into Indian Avenue, shifting the road so it skirts the Lowe's development.
(AA 5:39:0968, 1031-1032.) While this was expedient for the Lowe's
project, it created its own problem: Indian Avenue, which was meant as a
significant truck rdute, no longer matched with the Indian Avenue right-of-
way to the north of Ramona Expressway. The City needed to putin a
westerly dogleg north of Ramona Expressway to bring Indian Avenue back
to its prior alignment. (AA 5:39:0967-0968, 0973-0976, 1013-1016.)

Nothing on the ground, like a hill, canyon, or other obstacle, dictated
that the dogleg had to cross the Stamper/Robinson property. (AA 5:39:
0968, 1013-1016.) In fact, any number of other properties could have
provided the right-of-way for the westerly dogleg. But the City concluded
that those other properties were mostly owned by large developers and thus
might be more difficult or expensive to acquire. As a result, the
Stamper/Robinson property became the default location for the dogleg.
(Ibid.)

The right-of-way needed for this dogleg consumes nearly two
acres — about 20 percent — of the Stamper/Robinson property, ripped from
its middle. The City's complaint shows this:

1009063.01/0C



BARRET AVENUE 15000

RIDGE INDIAN AVEMNUE 1
EXHIBIT "B” - PARCEL 1 i
RIGHT-OF-WAY ACOUISITION oF ] SHEETS
FoR

l ws v8 el RG I38E-0Y

. FLOGE
PROPERTY YTALSY

(ld., AA 5:39:0978.)
The explanation for why —now — Indian Avenue is being extended
and realigned can be found in the City Engineer's declaration:

The City needs . . . to complete the improvements of the
Indian Avenue right-of-way because of the increased
traffic flow to and from the business parks and industrial
complexes that have been completed in the recent year,
including the Lowe's Distribution Center. Indian
Avenue has been designated a truck corridor to divert
truck traffic away from other primary arterials such as
Perris Boulevard. The Indian Avenue right-of-way,
which is currently unimproved between Ramona
Expressway and Harley Knox Boulevard (formerly
Oleander Avenue) must be developed to accommodate
the increased traffic flow and public safety issue due to
the lack of turnways and increased congestion in the
immediate area, including Perris Boulevard.

* ok %k
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There are other proposed large industrial projects which
will utilize Indian Avenue, including the proposed
Ridge Commerce Center, a 1.9 million square foot
warehouse with 964,460 square feet of truck courts and
1,209 parking spaces.

(AA 5:39:0968, 1049-1050.)

The City never identified future development of the Stamper/
Robinson property as a reason to realign and extend Indian Avenue. (See
ibid.) Notably, the City's City Engineer acknowledged that absent the
Lowe's project, Indian Avenue would not have been re-aligned across the
Stamper/Robinson property. (AA 5:39:0968, 1018-1019.) As the Court of
Appeal concluded, "certainly there would be no requirement of a dedication
of property for Indian Avenue, if the Indian Avenue project did not

‘Exist . ..." (Opinion, p. 40.)
C. The Massive Ridge Commerce Center's Development
Condition Requiring Acquisition Of The Right-Of-Way For,
And Construction Of, Indian Avenue.

Before the City filed this condemnation action (and following
development of Lowe's), the enormous Ridge Commerce Center
development (almost 2 million square feet) was approved by the City of
Perris, and the City specifically conditioned that development with the
acquisition of right-of-way for, and construction of, Indian Avenue.

(AA 5:39:0968, 1028.) To the extent that Ridge Commerce Center pays
more for this acquisition and construction than is its fair share, it will be
reimbursed by other developers through the North Perris Road and Bridge
Benefit District (the impact-fee program, as explained below, into which
Messrs. Stamper and Robinson will pay if they ever develop). (Id. at
1029)

1009063.01/0C
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D. The Limited Dedication Required From The
Stamper/Robinson Property Absent The City's Realignment
Project.

As noted, the Stamper/Robinson property fronts on two paved roads

with dedicated right-of-way (Perry Street and Barrett Avenue). But for the
realignment of Indian Avenue, the City would have only required the
dedication of nine-foot-wide strips along each of these two roads (which
would allow these roads to be built out to their ultimate width).
(AA 5:39:0967-0968, 0973-0978, 1018-1021; RT 1:170:15-25.) Because
these dedications would be on the property's edges, Messrs. Stamper and
Robinson would have continued to own a nine-acre, easy-to-develop, and
square property after the nine-foot dedications. (lbid.)

Consistent with this small dedication requirement, the City only
conditioned the massive Lowe's facility and the massive Ridge Commerce
Center (both of which included millions of square feet of buildings) with
dedicating thin roadway strips along the edges of their properties. For
instance, Ridge Commerce Center only had to dedicate 1.66 acres of its 90-
acre site; this equates to less than two percent of that property.

(AA 5:39:0968, 1036-1038; see also 1024-1027.) (Coincidentally, the
City's claimed 1.66-acre dedication requirement from the
Stamper/Robinson nine-acre property is exactly the same amount of land
that the City exacted from Ridge's 90-acre property.) | -

At deposition, the City's City Engineer could not identify any
development for which the City ever required an unpaid dedication -
amounting to anywhere near 20 percent of a development's property.

(Ibid.; see also 1033-1035.)
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E. The Requirement That Messrs. Stamper And Robinson Pay
Their Full Proportionate Share For Traffic Impacts
Through An Established Impact-Fee Program.

In order to finance the construction of various roadway
improvements, in June 2008 the City adopted the North Perris Road and
- Bridge Benefit District. (AA 5:39:1068, 1028, 1039-1045.) The benefit
district was designed to distribute the cost of roadway improvements
proportionately among benefiting properties. The boundaries of that
benefit district include the Stamper/Robinson property. (/bid.)

Indian Avenue, including the costs of acquiring its right-of-ways, is
among the projects to be constructed with the fees paid by developers into
this benefit district. (/bid.) In other words, the City has in place an impact-
fee program — the benefit district — for the fair distribution of the costs of
roadway improvements, and that fee program will pay for the right-of-way
needed to construct Indian Avenue, including the right-of-way across the
Stamper/Robinson property. And, as noted, the Ridge Commerce Center is
conditioned with acquiring this right-of-way and building the road.

According to the City's City Engineer, in order to develop their
property Messrs. Stamper and Robinson will be required to pay their full
fair share under that benefit district, meaning they will ultimately help pay
for the right-of-way being taken from them. (/bid.; RT 1:154:18-22.) And
the City has made no provision in its resolution of necessity — or anywhere
else — for Messrs. Stamper and Robinson to get future credit if the City
pays less in compensation because of its claimed dedication requirement.
(AA 5:39:0968, 1029-1030; RT 1:157:1-28.) In fact, in response to several
interrogatories, the City admitted: "In this case, Indian Avenue will have
been taken as part of this eminent domain action, so there may not be credit
or reduction of fees for Indian Avenue based on its dedication.

Furthermore, assuming development fee credit is available, there is no
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project agreement or proposed development, and thus no credit or reduction
can be provided at this time." (AA 5:39:0969, 1055-1056; RT 1:158:12-
23))
F. The City's Condemnation Action To Allow Ridge Commerce
Center To Meet Its Condition To Acquire The New Indian
Avenue Right-Of-Way.

To allow the Ridge Commerce Center to acquire right-of-way
through the Stamper/Robinson property (and thereby meet its development
condition), the City authorized the filing of this condemnation action. (See
RT 1:154:1-14.)

The City instructed its appraiser that the City would require the |
entire portion of the Stamper/Robinson property being condemned to be
dedicated to the City prior to any development of the property. The City's
appraiser relied on this instruction without further inquiry. (AA 7:50:1482-
1483, 1497-1498.) As aresult, instead of basing his valuation on industrial
use of the property (as allowed by the property's zoning), the City's
appraiser used agricultural values. (AA 7:50:1498-1501.) He also
- provided for zero severance damages related to slicing the property into two
oddly shaped triangles. (Ibid.; see also 5:39:0970, 1104-1240.)

Based on this, the City made a deposit of "probable compensation”
of only $55,000. (AA 1:3:0057-0058; 5:39:0968.)

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